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CHAPTER ¢ INE -

CHAPTER TWO -

CHAPTER THREE -

OQUTLINE - THE MAN FROM UNDERCOVER

: Glenn McPherson, named '
. , TIC ed one of North A \
Amenca's Ten M
o 2 V10st

Outstanding Young Men 1n 1941, sits in his West Vancouve :
amid books, photos, memorabihia and journals dci'l‘l|l;t-t;\w-d.cn e i
intimately involved 1n the history of his countny H:nmdbl'“\ AR Y N
of secrecy to Sir William Stephenson, the M;m. Called lnlli‘;::iln‘?‘lg \l:f\ = 0"‘:“

, McPherson has

rUfLJ\Cd 1O Opcn his dianes to any one until now

Third son of Ewan McPherson, one-time Chief Justice of ‘

Gienn - gt g in Portage la Prairie, was kicl\cd- ()Lll t): :)clMuln-lmlw

he was fit only for farm labor, surprised everyvbodv b thl “‘0 e iy :

Latin teacher by winning the (]()\'crnor-(}cnc'rul'\‘ m (le I]'ll\ i':lthcr mjd -
Worked his way via cattle train and freighter to ‘l:lu:]'l‘:ld“']u(']r:lfic \} .
lundog on $35. Planned to be chemical engineer L:(;urq \ JEL,I 8 .

at Manitoba University. Switched to Law. Took l;‘irﬂt ch:hr I:\mt i d”a}-ﬂc_
then First Year Law intermurally, articled to his father's Porl';:clra:?’ ;{::;p“:’

Ew dn ‘hgcamc Provincial Treasurer, so family moved to Winnipeg. Gle
took Third Year Law, articled with small law office. Met Peg S ViofSte
and Ozzie Sorflaten. Ozzie and he, best friends, involved in QYS' g g
Peggy and Glenn engaged to be married. Pcum: and Glenn ();j:mg l;;l:»ml&
gir invalved in s acebiokt: B S
dc‘\-'ashlatcd by“(ieaths_ Deeply depressed, couldn't bcar’to stay in‘] i
Winnipeg. Offered escape by former Law dean, Dr. Ephraim H. Coleman

Dr. C_’oleman now Canada's Under Secretary of State (1937) and needing

to w1‘nd up outstanding claims on books of Custodian of Enemy Pro *rtb-'
relating to First World War. Offered Glenn six-month ass;gnln;:nt top(ZOi;]is
Now workaholic, Glenn resolved claims, traveled to Europe with Colem |
drafted new Trading With The Enemy Regulations, returned to Europe inarL
1939 to find war imminent. Present at Rideau Hall’whcn Governor- general

Lord Tw Ir signe ‘ '
eedsmuir signed Canada's declaration of war against Germany




\PTER FOUR -
As | ecal L“ounxcl for Custodian ul‘l"ncm\ P
£ 3 roperty. Glen \
J > nw Orl\L‘d rnund

the clock, vesting and administering enemy-owned property. Inte ,
involved Francis Sheeney (anecdote about w h“fChou\C? ll\ ' nlsrc.‘\tmg cases
Axel Wenner-Gren; Alcan and German circus (anccd‘ot; a_hLuleU\ gy
Glenn became confidant of Dr. Coleman (anecdote about \:L‘ll‘ elephant.)
[ike his dad a non-drinker, Glenn was also a non-smoker :1:1:1: ?t[: o

- stress

rompted him to adopt pipe-smoking as image-bui
promp pt pif 10king as image-builder. (Anecdote)

CHAPTER FIVE -
Glenn became involved with Tom Bata when Bata Shoe Com any came
under control of Custodian (Czechoslovakia under German dEn?.} RIS
Tommy Bata and Glenn friends, but half-uncle Jan Bata on Ene ‘"Er“[‘(.)fl), .
Specified Persons for subversive actions. Many Bata anecdot‘e;m) g

CHAPTER SIX -
September, 1941, Glenn was "borrowed" from Custodian's office by th
legendary Man Called Intrepid, Sir William Stephenson, for his Bri)tishe
Security CQQrdination office in New York. His impressi’()ns 0f~Sle henson
were surprising - "small, slight, quiet man" - but they became ﬁrmpfriel:lds
and Stephenson eventually gave Glenn his power-of-attorney in case of hi
death. As his executive assistant Glenn was initiated into Stephenson's " le"
network - "you only know what you have to know." (Anecdotes.) i

CHAPTER SEVEN -
Glenn was escorting a British spy to safe haven when he first heard news of

Pearl Harbor. Stephenson re-assigned him to Canada's West Coast to assess
possible threat presented by Japanese-Canadians there. He arrived in midst
of hysteria, and began stockpiling facts and figures on local situation Afier
two exhausting weeks he had concluded that Japanese-Canadians COl',lld be
victims of violence triggered by racism. On his last day in Vancouver, read
to report to Stephenson in New York, he met his future wife, Mercia ’ )

CHAPTER EIGHT -
His life, from then on, was divided between "Before [ met Mercia" and

Aftctr [ met Mercia". Their courtship was fragmented between business
meet.mgs. (Anecdotes). An old promise triggered a sudden proposal. Their
marriage, honeymoon trip to Winnipeg. (Anecdotes, anecdotes, anecdotes. )

CHAPTER NINE -

o0

e

'

0
)\r. 9

i




lowing Pearl Harbor, was in panic mode. McPherson

|
1011

west Coasl
¥ worked overtime trying to keep up with responsibilities

i his stal
resulting from evacuation of 23,000 Japanese-Canadians from "safe"
one. Business properties, residences, 1200 vessel fishing fleet - all had
‘o be evaluated, listed and protected from arson, vandalism and theft. They
did their best against impossible odds. It was a bleak and frustrating pcno‘d
helped somewhat by Bob Alexander, a spy rescued by Glenn and put to
work in his office as Japanese translator/interpretor. (Anecdote)

::.\_}’HRH'N- ' ‘

J The years since the evacuation have brought mainly criticism of the
way the federal government treated Japanese-Canadians. The Custodian's

office has been pilloried for disposing of their assets at prices deemed

~ow to have been ridiculously low. But Glenn claims the circumstances

warranted what happened. And he is backed up by people like Frank

ard who, as Spanish Vice-Consul at the time, acted as the Protecting

Bern
power of the Japanese-Canadians. Bernard totally vindicates McPherson.

VEN -
Formal inquiries followed 1n 1947 (re the acquisition of former Japanese

land holdings by the Veteran Lands Act); 1948 (the Bird Commission re
low sale prices of fishing vessels, properties, businesses etc.) and later

CHAPTER ELE

in 1986 when, according to many embittered Hong Kong veterans, the
Mulroney government "bought the Japanese vote" by giving each surviving
ese in Canada $21,000 as redress for suffering caused by evacuation.

Japan
Both sides to the story. Many references. Apology.

CHAPTER TWELVE -
Meantime (back near the end of 19
and Mercia, like everyone else in wartime, had trouble finding lodging. (An
anecdote - "one-room apt. with kitchen, so small that if you opened the
oven door you had to back up into the LR/BR" - and Mercia was pregnant.)
Several moves later - Fall '43 - moved into 2 BR apt. with LR and DR for
$47.50 a month, $2.50 for garage. Glenn guilt-ridden because his draft

notices were constantly deferred by Coleman. His work. then, mostly

related to updating Enemy Blacklist.

42) Glenn was recalled to Ottawa. He




'ER THI rEEN -
gummer of '43 Glenn given hush-hush assienm '
e — cnt by L‘
y Coleman -

to arrange first of two Quebec Conferences. He ~
had to take over Chateau Frontenac. oust uucx:'and ok Delate
set up accommodation for Winston Churchln'n‘fh (C\iccm for one L.O1)
Roosevelt in Citadel. Great anecdote re ch“:?d 1" r;\lnklm Delano
Roosevelt brought on Glenn’s comment “the b: '01 Churchill and
the world 1s In flames." Meeting with ChurChn?}.S’ _p‘a_\' games while
Roosevelt's aide Col. Chaffey. (Anecdotes.) Se il Bright, and
in Quebec Aug. 1944 arranged by Glenn dnd L;C(;nd conference

x eLaute.

ER FOURTEEN -
McPherson was investigator with post-war C ; -
hcadcq b_\;Gcncral Pope. McPherson, the "C‘a';i:-?"lan Military Mission
assets m_L an‘ada, had to investigate cmnpani‘e[: l'kxon (?cr}nan external
oxfwrshlp of companies in Canada through b(;oll\'stk%-k-_ Farben, tracing
offices. McPherson was Canadian delegate on Inte _t—Pl .ln German
Agcnc_y" (IARA) set up post-war by Allies to det H"Alhed Reparations
rc:paratxons from Germany. Had to travel throu j{zme.and obtain
(funny anecdote - made full colonel with red tais 15?:;1 terr;o(;y 2

€ss Reds.)

CHAPT

(1945-8)

CHAPTER FIFTEEN -
1948 McPherson was appointed govt. counsel to Bird .
se_t up to hear claims of Japanese-Canadians. Afte :h Commission
ngvnth I\:Idea .ofhsettling down 1n Ottawa as ]a\\");er Orrg(): fil:tnn tolyed
ut Mercia - ’ 2 Into politi
i th:w;i znOOUEhWThe}’ .now had three little girls. Sielxt::zzted
sqpe e B E’lSt. -l'[h- his usual serendipity, Glenn ran i
riend who talked him into coming to work for Great W:::OL. ‘
ife

Insurance Co. as investment manager in Vancouve
I

CHAPTER SIXTEEN -
- Two years later, bored, he left
: : to become exec '
oot _ . assistant to the !
o :s a Pllne and Timber Co. A year later itchy feet again A]:“;E:rl\dem
- ess colleague tempted him with an offer to join the sr.n 11 .
canagan Helicopter Co.(three ch "
. oppers), a chance to finally (n
”~ = e
ie;rsl]agtzr) take advantage of his pilot's licence. Joined as E?{le(cutz'lr‘y »
P. (1952) Made President and CEO (1954), Chairman (1969 751;&




helicopt€ ¢ ‘Te:
Licopter fleet increased to sixty. busin
7 ess world
‘\\]Llc

having scchn
first company 11 the world to fly helicopter across tl
‘n the world to set <ki lifts by chopper. Worked “ l}\c Atlantic, first

friend ol legless world War ace Douglas Bader (l::\\ m:_id e

anecdaolte)
(APT] R SEVI NTEEN -
; In mid-60's he instigated discovery of Whistler as f

otes. Funniesl relating to hinng of water :j~1\,:][5rrc 531 resort. Funny
and installation 0'1.

.ll]k.‘s.'d
flush toilets at hicgher levels T _
Whistl S evels. He and Mercia bought one of fi
a2 » ~ » > . o C ( : ~ .
ustier tow nsite. Kids learned to ski there. Glenn ] first condos in
~ . . . ; n o r YR O
team. Mercia, ¢ 82 kis - . 'was on crack ski
e C 1t 82. still skis downhill there. Glenn and M 1 crack ski
as n ar-royalty by ¥ o ; an i R
1S Ne yalty b} younger afficionados. Jimmy Sinclai ercia regarded
y ol -1c "Pie 9 by . T™ - e Caqu 1‘ » T
father-in-law of Pierre Elliot Trudeau, roped Glenn i former MP and
,at was wrong with the Port of Vancouy ninto telling P.E.T
o 2 %

wi

HTEEN -
vaid ac Che ' ‘ 3 . :
paid as Chairman of ()}\anagan Helicopters until 1975
so accepted membership on board of Vancouver P 5 but no duties
1()7]_. Made Chairman of Board 1973-1982 Worko(;t /l\Ulhority n
obtain autonomy for port. From 1975-82 member Lf I:CICSS‘.\’ to
F e e _ = er of the P
l),c.gtslauon Steering Committee, Ottawa. Chairman of B ort
IR % : ' "Di
Canada Port Corporation, Ottawa 1983-5. Awarded 3oard of Directors
sh ed many honors

CHAP1 ER EIG

Retired in 1985.

CHAPTER NINETEEN -
Vice-Chairman and Directo '
r of the British Col '

e . | - olumbia Railway f
. nc..cdohta,s. Partly responsible for installation of : “‘0““
Ic\/icctr.u. railways in North America - at Tumbler Ridge, B (énu of four

> ~ ]’ JE> : - : > ~ ‘c’ i -

ercia given lifetime passes - make good use of lhelbn ™ }JL i

~ going back and

forth to Whistler all year long.

CHAPTER TWENTY -
- Finally retiring '
trave]-am’wh;:::nﬁ;;l]9:-25, Glenn promised Mercia from then on they'd
cha'd s i ,.Or she wanted to go, to make up for all th “
g :a\,e ;aelsmﬁ, the kids alone. He has regrets about that Wisheseh} o
e tznco(;:lte ,“nh them more but, like his father Ewan, his fotal
Gt SO 'f.\ find career consumed him. Has it been worth 1t?
a, yes. He's lived a love story. It's been a helluva life i
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CHAPTER 3
From a cabinet in his den McPherson hauls out a very large and impressive
ledger. In faded gold lettering on the black cover is its title: Report re:
Canadian Pacific Railway Company Embargoed Securities 1938, by G. W.
McPherson, Counsel. C;
@,

Inside, pasted to the frontispiece, s a copy of a letter from E. H. Coleman, Under

Secretary of State, to the Honorable Fernand Rinfret, Secretary of State and

Custodian of Enemy Property. It's dated July Ist, 1938, and it reads:

Dear Mr. Minister:

[ am placing before you a report prepared by Mr. G. W. McPherson in

connection with the Securities of the Canadian Pacific Railway Company.
There was no complete record in the office of the transactions in respect [0

Canadian Pacific securities. Under my instructions Mr McPherson devoted

himself for many weeks to the preparation of a complete and accurate report.

When you read the report I think you will be impressed with the vast amount of

work which has been done, and with the very careful analysis which Mr. :

I McPherson has made. Yours sincerely,




Glenn arrived in Ottawa on October 6, 1937, on a six-months leave of absence
from Aikins, Loftus, Williams and Macaulay. He still has the document s igned by
Secretary of State Fernand Rinfret appointing him Legal Counsel for the
Custodian of Enemy Property, at a salary of $200 a month. The salary stunned
him. It was almost three times what he'd been paid by his Winnipeg law firm and

it seemed an astronomical amount. He decided then and there that he was going

to forget about Winnipeg and its sad memories and make Ottawa his home.

As Coleman had outlined it, the assignment looked fairly straightforward. He

was to "wrap-up" the office of the Custodian - a holdover from World War I - and
to dispose of the outstanding claims or disputes still on the books. Fair enough
but, first, some basic questions needed answers. Who was the Custodian and
what did he have to do with enemy property? Why hadn't those claims been

disposed of at some point during the last eighteen years? And, as Legal Counsel

to the Custodian, what would his duties be?

He was given access to books and records and he started to dig up the answers.

. \...\-\\

S
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The Custodian's office, he learned, had originally been set up in 1914 under the
Canada's War Measures act to prevent people from trading with the enemy, and to
handle the disposal of seized enemy property. The Custodian was actually the
Secretary of State. His deputy was the Under Secretary of State (which explained p

Coleman's involvement), but the actual day-to-day running of the office was done

.

by the Assistant Deputy, Albert H. Mathieu, with a staff of three. The Legal

Counsel handled all legalities.

Once that much was clear, Glenn started plowing through hundreds of thick,
dusty files which detailed the outstanding claims. And he began to sense the

enormity of the task ahead of him. He'd been hired to complete in six months
what Mr. Mathieu and a staff of three hadn't been able to dispose of in eighteen

years. But he couldn't stop to think about that now. Dr. Coleman had entrusted

him to do the job. Okay, he'd give it his best shot.

The claims on the books involved assets - land, property, companies or shares in

companies - which had been enemy-owned or whose owners lived in
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enemy-occupied territories. They had been seized under the existing Trading
Wwith the Enemy Regulations, but only after the Custodian had gone to court and
obtained a vesting order. He'd probably have told the judge: "We believe this

company is German-owned. Therefore we want to take charge of it for the

duration of the war. After that its future will be settled by peace treaty."

When the war ended, however, disputes arose as to the nghtful ownership of
some of those seized assets. One of the most crucial of these disputes, as far as
Canada was concerned, was the one involving the ownership of a large number of

Canadian Pacific Railway securities. The Custodian of the day had insisted that
these were German-owned, had seized them and cancelled them. But after the
war Dutch bankers, brokers and financial houses claimed they had been the
rightful owners and they demanded restitution. They were backed up by the

Amsterdam Stock Exchange which had closed its doors to the trading of

Canadian government bonds as well as prominent Canadian stocks like Noranda

Mines and International Nickel. For Canada this was serious. Amsterdam was one

of the most important money markets in the world, and not to be able to access it
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was disastrous. So, knowing he couldn't possibly dispose of all the unsettled

claims on the Custodian's books, Glenn decided to focus on the claim involving

the CPR shares.

f

les
y cau'le
First, though, he had to know precisely what the Treaty of Versalles'stated about

post-war ownership of seized assets. So he spent days studying the Treaty, fine
print and all, until he could practically recite it backwards. (He's always had -

still has - a phenomenal memory.) Once he knew exactly what the Treaty decreed,
he began to unravel the complex ownership of all of those CPR shares. There

were more than thirty-five thousand of them, and each one had to be traced back

through a series of sometimes obscure business transactions.

When completed his report was an incredible piece of work, with every one of
those shares meticulously detailed. (You only have to thumb through the ledger
itself - it would take hours to read it word by word, figure by figure - to

appreciate the weeks of effort that went into its preparation.) It was submitted by

McPherson to Coleman on May 31, 1938, not quite within the six months'

o~



6)

deadline. but close enough. As Coleman told Rinfret, it was a truly amazing

achievement involving a " vast amount of work".

Ever since he'd arrived Glenn had been putting in eighteen hour days, and

weekends too, something quite unheard of among the government bureaucracy.
One Sunday night, he remembers, he was working late in his office on the second
floor of the Trafalgar building, when he heard someone banging on the door. A
mounted policeman had noticed his office lights, demanded to know who he was
and what he was doing there on a Sunday night. Glenn showed him his ID, and

the policeman left, muttering that nobody ever showed up in a government

office on a weekend. This, he figured, was one for the books.

In September '38 Glenn and Coleman left for Europe, planning to visit some of
the countries still in dispute with the Custodian. The red-taped "Safe Conduct”

letter Glenn carried (you can read it in one of his albums) specifically mentions

Germany, Belgium, Holland, Italy, Hungary and Switzerland. Their main target,

though, was Holland and the Amsterdam Stock Exchange. Armed with all the

. \>\’\




information Glenn had recently uncov ered for his Report, he and Coleman met

with Exchange officials to confer about the disputed ownership of the CPR

<hares. It was too involved an issue to complete in a hurry, so it was agreed that

McPherson would return later to complete the investigation.

They moved on to Switzerland, and were about to leave for Hungary, September

29 when Ottawa ordered Coleman to return home immediately. (Glenn's return

was not quite as immediate - he went home by way of London.) The reason, of

course, was that the world was becoming increasingly alarmed by Hitler's
warmongering. Britain's appeasing Neville Chamberlain was in Munich
e Nazi leader, but the situation was so tense that Canada

negotiating with th

wanted its Under Secretary of State home, not wandering around Europe.

The infamous Munich Agreement, giving Germany the go-ahead to take over
Czechoslovakia, was signed September 30, 1938. As it turned out, Glenn

happened to be standing with the crowd in the rain outside Buckingham Palace,

October 1st, when Chamberlain returned in triumph from Munich and appeared
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on the palace balcony with King George VI and Queen.

»Chamberlain stood there, waving that piece of paper - the Munich Agreement -
in the air and the crowd cheered as he promised them 'peace with honor", Glenn -
s "I turned to the Englishman beside me and said: '‘Chamberlain is out of his

Say

mind. I think it's time for this colonial to get the heck home to Canada."

The following April he was back in Amsterdam, accompanied by A H. Mathieu,

Assistant Deputy C ustodian, ready to complete his investigations as to the

rightful ownership of the CPR shares. Now he carried another red-sealed

document from the Secretary of State declaring him to be "an officer of the

Department of the Secretary of State of Canada" whose diplomatic mission

would require him to "travel in the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Belgium,

Holland, Italy, Hungary, Switzerland and other countries." And he remembers

his vivid impressions of Europe at that critical time:

"Hijtler had annexed Austria. He'd taken back the French Alsace-Lorraine area and
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had occupied the Sudetanland of Czechoslovakia, claiming it was part of
0

Germany. There was very little evidience of any war preparation in England
ngland.

Chamberlain was following his appeasement policy and most of the people 1
ople

BN e

talked to there were convinced that Hitler n
ow had all he wanted
and there wasn't

going to be a war in Europe after all."

(AS proof that "thele']l always be an Ellglmld", lle'S kept a message he TCCC' d t
1v€d a
l 2 efl

sixpence change after making a phone call in their coat department. They

enclosed the sixpence.)

"When I got to Amsterdam, however, [ suddenly realized that the Dutch were
seriously preparing for war. Everybody you talked to expected it," he recalls

citing instances of anti-tank barners and barbed wire fences along canals

By June, 1939, he and Mathieu had successfully resolved the dispute with the

Amsterdam Stock Exchange, and the Dutch Bourse had agreed to re-open the

i -
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Exchange to the trading of Canadian Securnities. Dunng a congratulatory

sotiation dinner the Secretary of the Bourse, Amold d'Ailly, said there

po:il-ncb
was a very real danger that war was imminent. If the Netherlands were occupied

and their financial institutions seized by the Germans, what would the Canadian

government do? Would it repeat the policy of World War [ and seize assets in
Canada that were held through Netherlands banks?

Glenn's answer was based on his thorough study of the Treaty of Versailles and

his knowledge of what the Custodian's office had done following that Treaty. If

the Netherlands were occupied, he said, Canada would certainly seize
German-owned assets 1n Canada. But, as the Custodian's Legal Counsel, he

warned, he'd go further. He'd recommend that Canada seize assets whose owners
lived in occupied countries as well. Seizure in both cases would assure that the

assets would be held safely until after the war when they'd be returned to their
rightful owners. It would also prevent Germany from forcing the owners to

transfer their Canadian assets to German interests during the occupation. The

Dutch saw the wisdom in what he said and their parting with the Canadians was
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amicable.

Then Mathieu left for home by way of Paris, Glenn by way of London. He sailed

for Canada aboard the Duchess of Richmond. Just ahead of them. escorted by th
. e

battleship Hood, was the ship carrying the King and Queen to Canada for their

Royal Tour. Glenn knew what others did not - that the Hood was also
transporting all of the gold bullion and government securities from the Bank of

England to Canada for safekeeping.

"I'm not sure what the transfer point was," he says, "but I know that under cover

of the Royal Parade through the streets of Montreal, the authorities were
frantically moving the bullion and securities off the ship and into the vaults under
the Sun Life Building. Later on I found out that some of the gold bullion was

transferred to the Bank of Canada vaults in Ottawa. Needless to say, it was all

very top secret.”

All during that summer of '39 Mackenzie King was openly downplaying the
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possibility of war. But, behind the scenes, he was following a different script

He'd already set up @ War Committee to prepare legislation for the war. Coleman

was accompanying Their Majesties across the country, so Glenn represented him

ol

on an inter-departmental committee established by King to draft the Economic
Warfare Regulations, later known as Trading With the Enemy Regulations. Glenn

had the legal background. He was also, by now, an authority on how the same

type of regulations had worked durning the First World War.

" knew where the pitfalls were," he says, "and what protection Canada required.
Also I had some new ideas about how to get control of property in Canada that
belonged to the enemy. I'd also figured out how to prevent other governments

from contending, as they had done after the First World War, that the assets in

Canada had been vested prior to their seizure by the Canadian Government.”

All during the summer of 1939 this Committee was hard at work - Glenn was

again putting in eighteen-hour days, weekends included - but it was all done

under very hush-hush conditions.
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On Coleman's return from the Royal Tour, he and Glenn and Controller General
watson Sellers had back-to-back meetings. And by September 2nd, when the
British declared war on Germany after the occupation of Poland, Canada's

Trading With The Enemy Regulations were inked, stamped and ready for action.

Sunday, September 9th, at midnight Glenn was still bent over his office desk
when Dr. Coleman (who didn't drive) phoned with an urgent request. If Glenn had

his car handy, Coleman needed a lift. He'd be waiting on the steps of the Centre

Block.

Glenn grabbed his keys and took off. Within minutes he pulled up under the porte

cochere in front of Coleman, waited while the Under Secretary of State got in,

then roared off again down the curving driveway and into the dark Ottawa night.

"Where to, Doctor?"

"To Government House, Glenn," said Coleman, puffing on one of his endless
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cigarettes. (He never was a man for idle chatter.)

The streets were quiet at that time of night. Glenn made it to Rideau Hall in less

than five minutes, rolled in through the gates and up to the entrance. The doorman

had been expecting them. They were ushered into the handsome foyer, just as His

Excellency the Govemor-General, Lord Tweedsmuir, was coming down the stairs

- his dressing gOWN. Obviously he'd been roused from bed.

"Good evening, gentlemen," said the Governor-General. "Let's go into the study."

Coleman pulled 2 piece of parchment out of his briefcase and handed it to the

small man who was now behind the desk. Tweedsmuir adjusted his glasses,

reached for a pen, read the document quickly, signed it, blotted it and handed it

back to Coleman. It was all over in less time than it takes to tell it, McPherson

says, and he and Coleman were once more back in the car.

"Can you tell me what that was all about?" he asked his boss, curiously.




——
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o for a moment 1O light yet another cigarette, Coleman answered, his voice
pausing for

' . . " he Said "The
: : . "We're 1nto 1t NOw, Glenn, :

th weariness.
raspy W

_General has just signed Canada's Declaration of War against Germany."

Governor

E——

e
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CHAPTER 4

In one of the many albums kept in his den, six lined pages meticulously record the

miles Glenn travelled on business for the Custodian's office from March '39 to

January "46. The total is an astounding 180,449 miles, covered by plane, train,
i
: 4
pus and car. In one way he was grateful to be constantly on the move. It gave %

G
him little opportunity (0 think about Peggy or Ozzie or those far-off happier f-;+
times. The downside was, though, he had no time to make new relationships. Not

J
that he really wished to. He was still convinced that he'd never again commit
(

himself to marriage. Bul his life wasn't necessarily unhappy. He roomed with a

couple of guys at the Gatineau Golf Club and got in the odd round of golf.

Mostly, though, he was caught up in the excitement of his job, and the challenges

offered to him by his mentor, Dr. Coleman, a man twenty years older but one of

his best friends and certainly one of his most loyal supporters.

From September 10, 1939, right through 1940, Glenn lived mostly out of a

suitcase. He spent a lot of his time crisscrossing Canada, setting up Custodian

ered accountancy firms - in each of the major

agencies - mostly recognized chart
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cities. In each case he had to educate the principal member of the firm as to the
Regulations and the Custodian's powers. That took time and patience. He was

frequently short of both.

One of his ongoing responsibilities was helping to set up the List of Specified
Persons (known in the office as the Enemy Blacklist), consisting of names of Q
people who were trading with the enemy. Canada's Blacklist was virtually

identical with Britain's because of a constant exchange of information between
the two countries. If a name showed up on either list, no one in either country
could trade directly, or indirectly, with that person or company. For example, the
Swedish industrialist Axel Wenner-Gren was prominent on both lists.
Wenner-Gren had amassed a fortune from his Electrolux vacuum cleaner
company. But he'd also helped develop the deadly double-barreled anti-aircraft

Bofors gun which he then tried to sell to both Allies and enemy - to the British

through Sweden, to the Germans through Switzerland - so he was persona non

| grata in both countnes.

P
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Because double-dealing violated McPherson's strong sense of ethics, he was
affronted by the fact that "Sweden played a major part in supplying both sides
with war materials. They took advantage of their neutrality, much against the

better interest of Norway - which explains why there is no love lost today between

Sweden and Norway," he says.

But, all other things aside, McPherson's main responsibility involved searching / 7
: :'{'u,}‘_
- .« o - -_,/'
out, taking over and administering enemy property. Which is how he found - g %
A P i/ — i
himself caught up in the affairs of one Francis Sheeney. Sheeney, a pillar of = BN E 2
7 AASA r\.‘f" ~J
, : IS
Toronto's [talian community, had been arrested on suspicion of associating with Ty
{ o
the enemy, and interned in a concentration camp near Kapuskasing, Ontano. oS A ON
(g A
U

"Francis Sheeney was an interesting man," McPherson says. "He had been in the
construction business with offices in Toronto and Montreal. There was no real

indication that he would betray Canada's interests - but there was proof that he'd

given Mussolini a white horse.”
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That was enough of a black mark, in wartime, to call for internment. Because of
a special order making the Custodian responsible for the assets of anyone

interned, everything Sheeney owned was vested in the Custodian's office

And Sheeney's holdings were considerable - a palatial estate near Brockville
(
¢ _ _ 5
complete with in-house bowling alley, stables, riding rings and prize horses, a 7?
(;\
- n " o (’,)
cement plant in Montreal, and a "hotel" in a small northern mining town. Fv
)
McPherson assigned security guards to protect the estate, and kept the cement 3
f’,}

plant running ("though it drove me crazy"). But the hotel was something else.
Frankly, his investigation revealed it to be a "place of ill repute". This posed a
problem. Whenever possible, the Custodian was supposed to keep seized

businesses in operation. But in this case? He decided to put the question to the

Custodian himself.

"Sir," he said to his boss, Fernand Rinfret, who was both Secretary of State and

Custodian: "Do you know who's running the biggest whorehouse in Northern

Ontario?"
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"No!" Rinfret looked up, surprised by the question.

"You are,” McPherson shot back, and then he explained the problem.

mWell, we operated the hotel strictly as a hotel and didn't let his relatives stay for C;
nothing, so we made a profit,” McPhersons grins. "And while I don't have the %})
letter in front of me, I well remember receiving one from Francis Sheeney, &

addressed to me personally, thanking me for looking after his assets. He was fi

especially pleased by the money we made for him while we operated his hotel."

McPherson's journal records the diversity of his work during those years. He
remembers the Domestic Fuel Company of Montreal, owned jointly by the
~ unlikely combination of German interests and the Catholic Church in Quebec. It

seems that the Church authorities had figured this investment would ensure them

a continuous source of fuel for their buildings.

Because of its German ownership the Custodian seized the Domestic Fuel

Company which meant it couldn't deliver its coal. The Catholic hierarchy was
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extremely upset, and McPherson found himself having to explain his actions to
priests in Montreal, and to executives of the German coal company at their
offices in New York. These offices, he discovered on his visit, were located 30 or

. : ¢

40 storeys up in a tower in the Wall Street area overlooking the Hudson River. A
()
7o

"They offered a great view of the New York harbour where British shipping was
coming in, ships like the Queen Elizabeth and the Queen Mary," Glenn says. "So,

as a German Intelligence centre, it would have been a very useful office."

McPherson concluded his meeting 1n the private office of the German manager
and got up to leave. But the door was locked. The German did buzz someone
eventually, the door was unlocked and McPherson was able to make his
departure. As he did so, he couldn't resist a parting shot. He gestured to the wall

of windows overlooking the harbour and said to his unsmiling host: "Next time 1

come, I'll remember to pack along my parachute for an easier exit.”

Then there was a case involving The Aluminum Company of Canada (Alcan). In
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manufacturing aluminum, the company was using, and paying royalties for, an

electrolysis process patterned originally by the Norwegian Aluminum Compan

y.
But Norway had been occupied by Germany during the war. That meant that any
rights relating to the Norwegian Aluminum Company belonged to the Custodian

So the Custodian's office seized the patterns and claimed the royalties from
Alcan. Through mutual agreement these royalties were then paid into a block

bank account, with the understanding that ownership of the royalties would be

determined at war's end.

When hostilities ceased, the Custodian turned over all royalties to the Norwegian
company. In the interim, however, those royalties had been protected from

Germany's attempts to transfer them to neutral banks in New York

But there were instances when, for lack of sufficient communication, the

Custodian stepped on Ottawa's toes. Then there was trouble, McPherson says.

"A plant was being built somewhere along the St. Lawrence river, apparently as
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part of C.D. Howe's industrialization program. We'd heard that Alcan was

behind it, but we didn't know this for sure. However, our job was to cooperate

with Customs to make sure that no German goods were brought into Canada.

C
4
%
mWe got a report from Customs that some huge crates entering the country ',?(.)
: %
through the USA were labelled as being made in Switzerland,and the shipment i
@
L

itself was coming from Switzerland. But, Customs said, the structure of the crates

proved they were not made in Switzerland. Instead, certain other identification

information proved they were German crates. So the Custodian's office

immediately seized the crates.

mwell, the roof fell in! Mr. Howe's department wanted to know, in no uncertain

terms, what we meant by holding up the war effort? We answered back that the

crates' contents had originated in Germany. Right! said Mr. Howe's department,

they were of German origin. As a matter of fact, the crates contained machinery

newly developed in Germany for stamping out airplane propellors, and Howe's

h various secret channels to get it shipped to Canada

office had arranged throug
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through Switzerland. It was needed here by Alcan to manufacture aluminum

propellors for aircraft - the Commonwealth Air Training program was just

getting under way - so this was top priority goods.

mwell, of course, as soon as the Custodian’s office heard the whole story, we
released the crates. But at least Ottawa knew that Customs was on its toes. and

the Custodian was doing his job. The real problem, of course, had been a lack of

communiction between the various departments.”

But there were lighter moments. Glenn recalls the takeover and subsequent

operation by the Custodian of two totally dissimilar companies. One was the

Prestwick Flycatcher Company.

"You know those long sticky tape things that used to hang from the ceilings of

farm kitchens? The damndest things! Well, we made those."

The other was a small roving circus owned by a German immigrant who was
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picked up by the RCMP and interned. When it was seized the circus was already

teetering financially because the lady trapeze artist had run off with the elephant

handler and taken all the trapeze equipment with her. The Custodian's intention
was to liquidate it eventually but, since the circus was then in winter quarters, a

decision was made to maintain it for a few months, at least, and keep the animals

fed and watered in the meantime.

"Unfortunately, during that period Lyndee the elephant died, right in the middle

of winter," Glenn says, "and there we were with her mammoth corpse, and the
ground too hard to dig a grave for it. We thought maybe the flesh might be
appreciated as animal feed by the owner of a silver fox farm nearby. But

apparently foxes don't go for elephant meat. In the end, I think poor Lyndee left

this world bit by bit via the garbage bin.

"] remember another "grave" situation we found ourselves in. It involved Francis

G. Winspear, our agent in Edmonton, who reported to us that a member of Judge

Rutherford's Watchtower and Bible Society had died. Why did this concern us?
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Well. members of this organization were considered subversive because they
advocated anti-war, anti-voting, anti-government beliefs and an Order-in-Council
declared them "illegal".When this particular member died, agent Winspear found
that nobody would pay for his funeral. So Winspear phoned us to find out if we'd

authorize the purchase of a coffin, and arrange for an undertaker to bury him.
[ phoned a friend of mine in External Affairs and said our Custodian's office was
overcrowded and we needed more space, specifically an area six feet long, two

feet wide and three feet deep. There was a moment of stunned silence at the other

end. Then my friend let out a roar of laughter: "My god, McPherson, you've seized

a body!" We did have our moments."

The war effort in England from 1939-40 gave rise to what McPherson calls "the

phoney war period.” Nobody knew what Hitler was going to do, or how far he

would go.

"In England they were buying time to get armament plans going and build

aircraft, and so on," he says. "They had a Home Guard which had no better

f&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ\)\\

(\
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protection than hunting rifles, shot guns and pitch forks They actuall d
: y made

wooden replicas of cannons and staked them along the east coast. As f: h
: ar as their

armament was concerned, it was virtually nil. The Labour and Conservati
rvative S 2 2
| o] ¥

governments under MacDonald and Baldwin were ﬁlayi‘ng musical chairs, each of f' i Cj
2 | U
: e
ing to be England's Pri Ini i W]
them vying g rime Minister, but neither of them doing anything (Ec;
constructive about building up the country's defences. In fact, they were cutting »
2

the defence budget year after year, in the interest of cutting taxes and winning

votes."

In Canada, though, it was a different situation, as McPherson remembers. The
country was gearing up for war. And he credits C.D. Howe with being the

"powerhouse" that fired up Canada's industrial progress at that particular time

Now that the Custodian's office was running smoothly, McPherson decided he
wanted a more hands-on role in the war effort and he handed in his resignation to

Dr. Coleman. He reminded him that he'd earned his pilot's licence in Winnipeg

back in 1936. Now he wanted to go back there and enlist with the 112th
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Squadron. But Coleman refused to accept his resignation.

"Sorry, Glenn," he said. "You're of more use to us here than you would be in the
Airforce. You can go ahead and enlist all you want, but we'll just have you

posted back to the Custodian's office every time you do. We need you here."

From then on, €Vve€ry time McPherson got a draft notice Coleman or the Secretary
of State would make special application for a deferment, pointing out how
valuable he was in his present position. (Those deferment applications are still

filed away here 1n Glenn's den, just 1n case any of his grandchildren asks him:

"Grandpa, what did you do in the war?")

So it was back to business as usual, and more train trips across the country,

frequently with Coleman. Friends asked how he could stand to spend so much

time with Coleman, a man who habitually just sat and read and chainsmoked but

never said more than a few words. But Glenn had great respect for his boss.
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"He was a very quiet man, but a most interesting man," he says. "You did your job

and he never interfered. He had a very agile mind, and a remarkable memory. I'd

take him a big memorandum intended for the Minister. He'd scan through it very
quickly, flipping the pages one after the other through to the end. Then he'd tum
back to some page at the beginning and say, "Glenn, you split an infinitive there "

And it would have to be corrected.”

Many people misunderstood Coleman, Glenn says, thinking him taciturn when he
was really just plain shy. He was very modest about himself and his own
accomplishments, very unassuming and humble. Yet he was inordinately proud

of his family, especially his brother D. C. Coleman, president of the Canadian
Pacific Railway. He was so proud of his brother that he'd have put up with

anything rather than risk embarrassing him, as McPherson recalls.

"When we travelled we always had breakfast together in the dining car, and Dr.

Coleman always ordered two four-minute boiled eggs. He'd eat one of the eggs,

finish the rest of his breakfast and then we'd leave. This went on time after time,
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and I could never understand why he never ate the second €gg. Finally, one
morning I couldn' stand it any longer and I asked him why he always ordered two

boiled eggs but only ate one. He seemed surprised at my question.

»wWell,' he said, looking a little sheepish, ‘they never bring me two eggs, only one
But I hate to make a fuss about it. So I never ask them a second time for the other

egg. I just keep ordering two 1n hopes that, one day, they'll actually deliver.'

T reached across the table, lifted the silver eggcup on his plate and showed him
the second egg tucked underneath 1t. Do you know, he was absolutely astonished.
From then on, he ate both eggs and always looked over at me with a little smile

when he upended the eggcup and brought out the second egg."

Although he and Glenn travelled together, Coleman left Glenn to oversee the
operation of the various businesses seized on behalf of the Custodian. Sometime

during those two years the non-smoking, non-drinking McPherson took to the

pipe. A colleague in the Custodian's office, watching his hesitation as he fended a
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particularly pointed question during a news conference, suggested smoking a
pipe. The ritual of tamping down the tobacco, flicking the match, drahe smoke a

pipe. thad a suggestionsuggested he start smoking a pipe. Then, while he tamped

down the tobacco and lit it, he'd have a reason for looking thoughtful while he Cj
%
marshalled his thoughts. v{:)
A
e

Glenn tried it. It worked. And from then on his pipe was never far from his hand. %




e —
-

—

WOISES ONLY
ERMISSION

tv Archives

FOR RESEARCH PURI
BE REPRODUCI D WITHOUT |

indd 1L ' mversi

ks & Special ¢ ecCl
rsity of British ¢ olumbia

I'he Ui

CHAPTER 5
1940, news came that Germany had invaded Belgium and unleashed a

"In A [d} .
ing attack against Holland," Tom Bata writes in his autobiography

savage bomb
Shoemaker to the World. "Within weeks most of Western Europe up to the

Spanish border was under German domination, the allies had lost thousands of

men and priceless equipment at Dunkirk and the Battle of Britain was about to
/

begin.
"4t last Ottawa seemed to have awakened to the fact that Canada was at war

and that what was still referred to as 'the mother country' was in mortal danger.
Nine months of bureaucratic inertia were replaced by a full-scale commitment to
the war effort. (That's when) I met for the first time a brilliant young lawyer who
was to play an important part in my life. In his capacity of counsel to the

custodian, Glen McPherson explained to me that, according to regulations

enacted under the War Measures Act, the custodian was empowered to

investigate all enterprises that were directly or indirectly owned by persons in

enemy territory, or that were suspected of trading with the enemy."
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From its humble beginnings in Czechoslovakia 1n the early 1900's, the Bata Sh
, a oe
Company had grown to an empire with markets world-wide. Then in 1932

founder and company head Thomas Bata Senior was killed in a plane crash i
sh in

Czechoslovakia. His son Tom Jr., who'd been in Switzerland apprenticing i
in
shoemaking, came home for the funeral to find that his father's half-brother J
- r Jan
had taken over control of the empire, supposedly until Tom Jr. had acquired
) ire

enough training and managerial experience to succeed his father

However, Tom's father had talked often about the possibility of building a plant in

A

Canada. In 1939, on the advice of Swiss lawyer Dr. George Wettstein, who' d’
been Bata Senior's legal counsel and confidant, Tom Jr. decided to go to Canada

to carry out the project, rather than stand by and see his beloved home country

overtaken by the Germans.

(Glenn remembers that Tom arrived with plans his father had already laid out in

minute detail for the new Canadian plant, telling exactly how to build 1t and

where to put each piece of machinery.)

Tom Jr. chose a location in the small village of Frankford, Ontario, ten miles
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north of Trenton, intending to manufacture only shoes. But the plant's key people,
Czech immigrants all, were highly skilled in machine tooling - the Bata
Company had always designed and maintained its own equipment. So before
long the Canadian plant was turning out not only army boots but also gyroscopes

for British torpedos. Needless to say, this was immensely helpful to the Allie;s‘;[

war effort.

Out of gratitude for the help given him by his adoptive country, Tom Bata
donated his own private plane to the Canadian government, and then went to

Ottawa to enlist as a private in the Canadian Army. But he was turned down.
The government felt he'd serve the country better by staying in charge of the Bata

plant and maintaining the confidence of his employees, most of whom were
£l -
Czechs and intensely loyal to the Bata family. (McPherson referred to them as

'Batonians' because, he said, in their deep commitment to the Bata family they

almost had a nationality of their own.)

Then came the actual occupation of Czechoslovakia. Ironically, the Canadian

Bata plant had to be seized by the Custodian because now it was owned by people

N
e} - 7

&
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in an occupied country. A special committee was assigned to oversee its

operations for the duration of the war, although Tommy Bata was still actively in

charge.

Meantime, when Czechoslovakia was occupied, Tom's uncle Jan, still CEO of all
Bata plants outside of the British Empire, decided to move to the still-neutral
United States and set up a plant in Belcamp, Maryland. This aroused the

suspicions of not only the Canadian Custodian, but British Intelligence as well
because the Custodian already knew that Jan Bata was a personal friend and

frequent hunting companion of Hermann Goring. (He also travelled on a German

passport.)

McPherson had already tried, but failed, to pump Jan Bata about the gold the Bata
Company had previously socked away in Canadian and American banks. Such
gold, it was feared, might be spirited out of the country and turned over to help

bolster Germany's war chests. As a matter of fact, just such an attempt was made

Pl
(. ! ' ff‘fv (VA AN

A and foiled, as McPherson recalls.

—

e——————————————————————————————————————————————




hives

> T NLY
'R RESEARCH PURPOSES ¢ :
FOR R \( ED \\lllh\l I Pl ‘\\‘l'\\ll YN

NOT TO BE REPRODI

- Universit) A1
Rare B ks & Special ¢

llections and
| . Jdoambiaa

h
a—
\
]

b))
J,J.“|

_/_" i o

S

we'd found a large cache of gold in Barkley's Bank in Montreal, held under the

name of a Swiss law firm, and we knew there was a connection between this law
firm and Bata. I happened to be friendly with the bank's executive, and one
moming I got a call from them. It seems that they'd been visited earlier by a

7
2
member of this Swiss law firm who had presented them with orders to release the %
2
(
p
(

gold 1nto his custody and transfer 1t to New York.

$
\/1 (i_'ff"\

"I caught the first train to Montreal," McPherson recalls, "grabbed a cab and met

the Swiss lawyer in the bank manager's office. He insisted that the gold was
owned by Swiss Interests and we didn't have any right to seize it. When I read

him our Regulations, however, he realized that unless he could prove his
statements, there was no way he could get the gold out of Canada. So he left,

and the gold bars stayed in the bank vault. After the war they were turned over to

Tom Bata, as was the Canadian plant.

"Actually, we frequently came across references to Dr. Wettstein and his partner
Dr. Charles Juker in our investigative work during those years. Not surprising,

really, since Dr. Wettstein was very famous internationally, and had clients in
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many countries. He and I had never met face to face, although h
» we had crossed

swords, in a sense, many times but always at a distance

"One weekend in March, 1946, Tommy Bata had business in Switzerl
zerland and he

suggested [ accompany him in his private plane. D
. Dr. Wettstein had di
1€d of a heart

attack the year before, but his widow entertained us in her elegant h
ant home and said

something that surprised me. Her husband, she sai
, she said, had often re
2 marked that,

when the war was OVer, he hoped to go to Canada and meet that fell
ellow

McPherson who'd given him so many headach

es. (Apparently he w

as even aware
that, 1n confidential discussions [ referred to hi
, - 0 him as Dr. Moria
- rty.) [ was amazed

that Switzerland, a so-called neutral coun
> try, had such com :
’ petent 1intelligence

service.

"gomething else interesting happened on that trip," Glenn says. "Whil
: ] ile we were
visiting the Wettstein home the beautiful daughter of the house, Son;
, Sonja, came
home from school unexpectedly. She and Tommy Bata had known each oth
other as

children, but hadn't seen each other since. Well, if you have read anythi .
> ing about

the Batas, you'll know that Tom and she eventually married and made their h
ome
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in Toronto. Sonja Bata became a very active and much respected member of

the community.

y, that was not the case with Jan Bata who was under suspicion since he'd

Sadl

moved to the States. McPherson and two other men - a Richard Coit

é
(who worked for British Intelligence), and Guy Holt, (a senior 'Zé
€
(
(

partner of P-S. Ross Accounting firm, and the Custodian's Montreal agent)v‘- were

sent to Belcamp to talk to Jan Bata and try to persuade him to cooperate with

British Intelligence. What they (MI5) wanted was Jan's agreement that his people

around the world (particularly in enemy territory) could supply vitally-needed

information to the Allies. But Jan Bata scorned the 1dea.

iy
. i y [CAN
"He said there was no way that England was going to win the war," McPherson
1

)

says. "He said Germany was going to be victorious, and he wanted it known that

he'd refused to cooperate with the Allies so that after the war he'd get back all of

the Bata plants in German-occupied countnies. [ said he was wrong. The

Allies, not the Germans, would be victorious, and then what would he do? He

just shrugged and said: 'Oh, well, the English are a forgiving lot. If they actually

do win the war, I'll have no problems getting around them.’
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»[ told him we Were going to blacklist him and he just laughed. Canada wouldn't
n

dare do that, he said, because he was in the United States and it was neutral

well, we dared all night, and it must have had some effect because, just prior

earl Harbor [ heard that he'd moved to Brazil to open a plant there. | know

to P

he never returned to the United States, but he didn't fare too well in Brazil either

We put an economic blockade on his plant in Brazil and I heard that, as a result

he couldn't even buy shoe nails."

His own peopl® denounced him as 2 traitor, according to a book entitled I‘Why

J.A. Bata Condemned’ and printed by Bata National Enterprise, Zlin il

Wwas

Czechoslovakia after the war The book pulls no punches. In it Jan Bata is

accused of nworking for the German Army". He "never hid his sympathies for the

fascist countries Italy, Japan and Germany" and was known as “Hitler's friend".

He was a "tyrant” and "despot", and "totally forbade his employees to join the

Allied Forces". His "enterprise at Belcamp was a centre of German espionage."

He "delivered raw materials, especially rubber, to the Germans." But his greatest

crime, the book insists, was his ill-fated plan to evacuate "the Czech nation of ten
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million people 1o Patagonia, 1N South America" - not out of altru;j
ruism, but i
: In order

ansplant the Protectorate (of Czechoslovakia) fi
) from Europe to that part of

to "tr

America which is being influenced by Germany and by which G
ermany would

actually gain another colony.”

In the end, the book claims, Jan Bata was condemned to pri f
son for fifteen
years,

ten years of which he was to spend in a work camp. He lost his ci
- 1S Citizenshi
p for

the time of his penalty, and all his property fell to the benefit of th
Ol the state.

As for Tommy Bata, he and his family and their sh
O€e company event
ually went

on to market 230 million pairs of shoes a year in 93 countries
- one in every thr
ee

pairs SOld 1n non-communist countries according to an artic
’ g t l ‘
e entitled "The

Richest Canadians” Il Town and Country. This success, Bata admits. is d
2 , 1S due 1n no

small part t0 the fact that the Custodian stood
guard over his assets unti
until World

War Il was OVer.
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CHAPTER 6:

Headed with the official seal of the Secretary of State of Canada, the letter dated

September 9, 1941, is addressed to G. W. McPherson, Esq. from Pierre Casgrain,

Secretary of State of C anada, and Custodian of IEFnemy Property.

Dear Mr. McPherson:

The Deputy Custodian has brought to my attention your letter of the 27th ultimo

tendering your resignation as Counsel to the Custodian. Mr. ( ‘oleman has also

explained to me the very responsible position which has been offered to you by

the Government of the United Kingdom.

[ can assure you that I receive your resignation with great regrel but, having

regard to the special circumslances mentioned in your letter, I can quite

understand that you feel it your duty to accep! the offer from the United K ingdom

government.
] should like to take this opportunity of expressing [0 you my appreciation of your

very efficient and conscientious services in the Custodian's office. I realize that

we are sustaining a great loss in your retirement but I earnestly hope that in

connection with the war effort you may be able to make a still more valuable
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wribution 10 the cause in your new field of duty.

cor

with best wishes and sincere personal regrets, I am, yours sincerely"

Sometime In mid-1940, McPherson recalls, Coleman introduced him to Richard

Coit who was "working in the British war interest." Glenn had never heard of Coit

but, quite obviously, Coit had heard of him. He was aware, for instance, that

Coleman gave Glenn a free rein in investigations. He knew, too, that Glenn had

the full confidence of certain bank executives. Coit came right to the point about

the purpose of his visit. He wanted to know if Glenn could do some work for

British Intelligence - dig up information, obtain needed items, that sort of thing.

Coleman answered for him: "Glenn goes his own way and does what he has to do.

He's pretty well his own boss. And he's yours, if you need him. But if he gets into

any trouble we'll deny that he had our permission to work for you.”

Shortly after Coit's visit the first of many notes arr

ived in Glenn's office. Cryptic
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and unsigned, it was delivered "by safe hand" from the British Security
Coordination office in New York, and it asked for specific background on certain

European families. The next note was a request for some pieces of equipment
manufactured in Germany and sold abroad. Then came a note requiring Glenn 10

forward a certain number of German marks (or Belgian francs). These were to be
obtained from a Canadian bank, but in strictest confidence. Glenn supplied them

all, surmising that the information, money and equipment would be given to

agents before they were dropped behind enemy lines. .

Early in September, 1941, Glenn was catching up on his notes in the club car of a
train travelling to Vancouver. A stranger across from him looked up from his

newspaper at Glenn, down at the paper, then up again at Glenn. Newspaper in

hand, he came OVeT.

"Excuse me," he said, "but are you Glenn McPherson?”

"That's right," Glenn answered.
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~well, then, congratulations," the man said, smiling broadly. "I've just been

reading about your award in the newspaper."

»What award?" Glenn wanted to know.

»Well, according to this you've been named one of North America’s Top Ten

Outstanding Young Men by the American Junior Chamber of Commerce," the

rman said, reading out of the paper. "Apparently that young film genius Orson

Welles is one of the nine Americans chosen, but you're the only Canadian.”

"But what's the award for?" Glenn wanted to know.

"Well," the man said, reading again from the newspaper story, "it says it's 'In

Honor of Distinguished Contribution to their Nation's Welfare."

"It's the first I've heard of it," Glenn said, surprised. He found out later that his

name had been submitted to the American JayCees by an Ottawa lawyer, a
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director of Colonial Airways. It was the Airways who felt that his contribution to

Canada's war effort deserved international recognition. Once he heard that, Glenn

felt quite honored, even more when he was told that no "foreigner" had ever

before received the award.

Back in Ottawa that same week Coleman called him into his office and told him
to pack his bags for New York. He was being "loaned" to British Security

Coordination where he'd be on William Stephenson's personal staff. He was to

leave immediately.

But first Glenn wanted an answer to something that was bothering him: "Dr.

Coleman, when I wanted to enlist, you told me that I was essential to the

Canadian war effort. And I bought that. But if it was so then, how can you spare

e now? And what will people think if I ship out to a neutral country without

ever having enlisted in the Canadian Armed Forces?"

"You're going where you're most needed, Glenn,” was Coleman's response. "As

for what people will think, you can't do a thing about it. You can't even tell your
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father or mother what you're going to be doing in New York. Sorry, my friend, but

that's the way it is. You'll be helping to fight the war, but nobody but you will

know that."

Glenn kept no diaries during his years with Stephenson but he vividly recalls his

first meeting with the legendary William Stephenson. He'd been told to report to

the British Security Coordination office on the 35th floor of the International

Building of Rockefeller Center in Manhattan, and he went, expecting to find a

man whose physical size equalled his growing international reputation.

"But here was a small, sli ght man," McPherson says, "not more than 5'6" tall. He

didn't say anything for a minute, just sat there sizing me up, 1 guess. The silence
was unexpected, and unnerving. I broke it by saying something quite inane, 1o

which he replied very gravely and courteously. And then we got down to business.

[ found out later that he used the same gambit on every visitor to his office. I tned

it myself, but I could never manage to do it as smoothly as he did."
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During that first meeting Coit joined them in Stephenson's office and Glenn was

given his first briefing. He'd be required to take an oath of secrecy - for life -

about everything he did, or saw, in connection with the organization or its

a IS

members. He couldn't resist asking:

"But how do you guys know that I'm not a double agent?”

"Oh, don't worry," C oit said, "you've been thoroughly checked out. MIS (British
Intelligence in London) has a complete dossier on you, your family, everybody
you know and everything you've done. For instance. we know that your father 1s a
judge 1n Manitoba. We know about your friends being killed in the automobile

accident. We know, 100, that you're a supporter of the British war effort because

we've been feeding you jobs and you've come through every time. Don't worTy.

We wouldn't take a chance on you if we weren't totally convinced that you're

okay, and can be trusted.”

Glenn would be Stephenson's executive assistant, he was told. He'd be responsible
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for recruiting new employees, and for overseeing the expenditure of office funds.

[n the meantime he had a lot to learn about the organization and its boss.

"For years Bill Stephenson and his associates were a mystery to most people,"

Glenn says, "which was precisely what Bill wanted to be. The fewer people who

knew about him, the better he could operate, and the safer his organization -

which accounts for his phobia about having his picture taken."

Born in Winnipeg, Canada, Stephenson had become wealthy through a vanety of
businesses 1n England after World War 1. In March, 1940, he travelled to the

United States, ostensibly to promote his own business interests. But, in reality, he
was on a secret mission to strengthen ties between the British Secret Intelligence

Service (S.1.S.) and the American Federal Bureau of Investigation (F.B.1.). This

was essential because the cooperation of still-neutral America was urgently

needed by Britain for its war effort.

Initially Stephenson worked under the cover of British Passport Control Officer




FOR RESEARCH PURPOSES ONLY

'O BE REPRODUCED WITHOUT PERMISSION

~NO)
llections and University Archives

, o
Rare B KS & Special L lex

ersity of British Columbia

9)

out of a small back room in the British Consulate General's quarters in New York.

His staff, at that point, consisted of one assistant, a clerk and secretary. It wasn't
long, though, before Stephenson found better office space on the 35th and 36th
floors of the International Building in Rockefeller Center (630 Fifth Avenue)

e St. Patrick's Cathedral. The office was still known as the British Passport

Oﬁ_uOm:
Control Office, but additional staff was recruited, mostly from Canada.

In those early days the F.B.1. and its chief, J. Edgar Hoover, were cooperative

with, and sympathetic to, this presence of British Intelligence inthe U.S.A. Asa
matter of fact, it was Hoover who suggested that the office name be changed to
British Security Coordination (B.S.C.) Later, however, Hoover was ‘wm,wa that an
yanization like this might threaten his personal authority. He became even more

org
upset when, in the summer of 1942, President Roosevelt established the Office of

Strategic Services (O.S.S.) under General William Donovan (whose exploits

during World War I had earned him the nickname Wild Bill Donovan.) The two

bills - Stephenson and Donovan - became great friends and worked closely

together. As a matter of fact, McPherson remembers that Stephenson detailed
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naanmma_w how Donovan should set up his O.S.S. operation.

mﬁn:m:mo:.m role was dicey to say the least, McPherson says, since he had to

operate out of an office based in a country that had been isolationist for years, and

from there to keep tabs on the whole of the Western Hemisphere. Not only that,
but he was responsible for the recruiting and training of agents to be dropped into

enemy territory. All this, keep a low profile and not ruffle any feathers.

Under British Security Coordination a special Security Division was set up to try
to prevent sabotage in factories, railways, shipyards and on the docks involved in

the delivery of four hundred million dollars worth of goods ordered yearly by
Britain. But the precautions had to be kept under cover because B.S.C. had no
legal authority to enforce any security measures in the U.S.A. Nevertheless,
thanks to some 30,000 anti-sabotage inspections a year carried out aboard British
merchant ships, not a single British vessel was lost or seriously held up by

sabotage in the United States during the war. (The French, on the other hand, lost

their prized liner, the Normandie, in February, 1942, when it burned at dockside

P~
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in New York harbour.)

«part of Bill's job was 1o bring Roosevelt and Churchill together," Glenn says

"not an easy task because so many Americans wanted the States to stay out of the

European conflict. At one point, Churchill came over to address the American

Congress and stayed overnight in the White House as a guest of Roosevelt. The

next morning he was in his room taking a shower when there was a knock on the
door. It was Roosevelt and his aide, George. Churchill hollered 'Come in!' and
they opened the door to find England's Prime Minister standing in the middle of

the room naked as a baby, his ever-present cigar in his hand. Churchill never

batted an eye€.

"You see, Mr. President,” he rumbled in that sonorous voice, "as I told you only

last night, we British have nothing to hide."

Glenn was quickly caught up in the intricacies of the B.S.C. One of the people he

worked closely with was "Mr. X", ak.a. the agent John Pepper. Through him
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Glenn met a German refugee called George Meuller, a former employee of the
giant German chemical trust, the E.K. Farben Industry, about which there were
suspicions. Together Glenn and Meuller compiled a complicated chart of the
subsidiaries of the parent company. Some surprising names turned up on that
chart: The Ford Motor Company, Standard Oil, Sterling Products, Bayer Aspirin
and General Aniline & Film Corporation, producers of Agfa Ansco film which
had its headquarters in Windsor, Ontario. When the chart was relayed to Canada,
the Custodian seized Agfa Ansco and listed it as a "Specified Person", which
meant that no Allied country could trade with it. Canada's External Affairs
Department raised Cain about this, not wanting the American government to be

affronted. But the Custodian’s office stood firm, arguing that Agfa Ansco's

German ownership warranted the action.

A booklet entitled The Nazi Chemical Trust in the United States, by S. F. Porter
published in 1942 by the National Policy Committee, Washington, D.C., is a

series of reprints from the New York Post. It gives explicit details of a plot to

rule the<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>